THE GAPCOTTAGES, LATER KNOWN AYESTLAKECOTTAGES INTHE GAPGURA BUNG DHAURA HILLS
KAMBERRA
now
Block 4, Section 128 & Section 22, Stirling Park and Embassy sites bounded by Perth Avenue, Empire
Circuit, Forster Cresggnt & Darwin Avenue,  Yarralumla, Ca nberra
7 oy A YA

Above: View taken from side of Empire Circuit |l ooking down
Westlake. The site of 27 Westlake is off to the mid left of this photograph.

Above: Site of one of two plaques in Stirling Park, Yarralumla. This plaque, signs and photographs are in
the backyard of 29 Westlake, home of Gates [1924 -1928] & George Sykes [19291965]

THE GAP COTTAGES8 THE BEGINNING

In 1923 the FCT Works Director and architect, HM Roll and,
Westl ake. There he inspected the two and three bedroom ti
carpenters for Howiebds married tradesmen. Foll owing this
timber cottage which could be produced relatively che aply, erected near major worksites and moved to

new sites as required. They were not moved until the 1950s when following the departure of the tenants,

the cottages were sold and moved by truck to new sites. Several sit in Queanbeyan and the South Coast.
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The houses stood on concrete piers that were around six inches square. The height of each was
determined by the slope on which the house was built. The cottages were connected to electricity, water
and sewerage. Prior to the availability of the main i ntercepting sewer the cottages were connected to
three septic tanks, one of which survives in Stirling Park on the western side of Haines Creek in Block 4,
Section 128.

The basic house was 24ft x 24ft according to the plans. Jack Lette of Causeway was o ne of the men
working for Richard Jenkins who bought a number of cottages and moved each by truck, corrected me on
the 24ft dthey were a little larger.

Above right: Hilda Heidemanns nee Zigianiuk in her front yard of 18 Westlake done of the first twenty
cottages built in the Gap- 1950s. On the right is a Todd family photograph of the same cottages around
1924-1925. Below is a photograph of Helen & Diane Bates on the gate of 59 Westlake. In the background
is 58 Westlake d one of the ten cottages erected in 1926 on the site of the Sewer Camp following their
removal in 1925. The structure at the front entrance was no t part of the original building and was
probably erected by one of the tenants. Note that the timber cladding is horizontal not verti cal. The
cottages erected in 1925 (Causeway) and these cottages at Westlake in 1926 by the Federal Capital
Commission placed the timbers horizontally. The ones built by the Federal Capital Advisory Committee
(1923-24) at Westlake and Acton placed them ve rtically.



The plan of the cottages shows the basic shape of the house - a square divided into four with another
small area at the rear that contained the laundry (wood fired copper & concrete tubs), tin bath that

fitted into the 2ft w ide area behind the lavatory cubicle area. The entrance to the lavatory was via a
door on the outside of the house. In our house 827 Westlake da door was cut by a previous tenant out of
the corrugated iron wall to allow entrance to the lavatory from th e laundry bathroom. A curtain hung
over the hole to provide privacy. Initially there was only one tin backed fire place in the kitchen used to
direct smoke away from the fuel stove. The living area was supplied with a small cast iron stove that was
later changed following many complaints and requests to an open fire with a tin backed fire place.

The Canberra Times 13 April 1933 : NECESSARY COMFORHireplaces for Westlake Cottages

Tenders have been called by the Department of the Interior for the construc  tion of 55 brick fireplaces in
cottages at Westlake. It is intended to complete their construction before the beginning of winter. The
action follows years of agitation by residents in the locality both personally and through the Canberra
Advisory Council. The reason for the delay in supplying the need has been the question of finance, but
the department disclosed that the rentals paid over a period of seven years had practically accounted for
the capital value of the wooden cottages. The tender of Mr A Mab  bett, of Kingston for the construction
of four open fire places at cottages at Westlake has been accepted. [We did get fire places, but they
were tin backed not brick.]

One of the young plumbers on the Westlake job was Tom Robertson of Oaks Estate. He recalled that the
lavatory cisterns were seconds and many broke down with regularity. From complaints made by
householders in the 1940s it is also noted that many of the cold water taps in the bathroom that should
have been placed oveemakehtéothedghtlarea. di dndt quit

Cold water for clothes washing and filling the tub for bathing was heated inthe  wood fired copper and
carried using a bucket to tubs and bath. At least one electric power point was available for use in the
kitchen. It was p laced on the kitchen wall near the back door.

Cold water pipes were on the outside of the buildings and | recall that my mother wrapped the pipes in
rags to prevent the water in them from freezing in the colder months. It was always wise to fill the
kett le before going to bed of a night to make sure that a cup of tea could be made in the morning.

The cottages were unlined. In the 1950s the cottages were lined with canite and the interiors were
repainted. | recall that | chose blue for my bedroom. Unfor tunately my mental choice of blue was quite
different to that of the painters and after a chalk line was made across each wall at the height of a
picture rail the lower half of the room was painted a dark blue and the upper half and ceiling a white
colour.

The exterior of the cottages were painted green. According to Tom Robertson of Oaks Estate the choice
of colour was to help the cottages blend in with their surroundings.



Like most of the locals at Westlake, our backyard had an excellent vegetable gard en. Flowers were
planted in the front yard. In the back top corner of our yard (diamond shape because it was on a corner)
an air-raid shelter had been dug. In front of the house on the open land now in the grounds of the Mexican
Embassy a series of trenches were dug just in case of an air raid. W e moved into our cottage in 1941 .

Many people built a room off the back of their cottages. In the case of large families this became a
necessity. In the post World War 2 period the government provided some fam ilies with a large cubicle to
take the overflow of family members. However, these were not always a success because most leaked
during wet weather.
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Above left: Erection of cottages 21 -27 1924 8 Cottage 28 is not shown on the right. [Courtesy M Stylesof
the McCullough family] . On the right: Vargi Varo and Ann Austin c1952 outside 27 Westlake. The site of

this cottage is opposite the corner of Empire Circuit and Forster Crescent in Stirling Park. The pine trees

in the background right still grow in th e park and were in the backyard of 28 Westlake.

The Canberra Times 13 April 1948 : BRICK HOUSE ERECTED WITHOUT APPROVAL. The allegation that a
man had built a brick house in the Westlake area without having a permit to do so and in defiance of the

buildin g ordinances was made by Mr AT Shakespeare at the meeting of the Advisory Council yesterday.
[Actually it was three small brick flats built in the extended backyard of 29 Westlake, home of George

Sykes.] Mr Shakespeare said that a plan to aid in the develo pment of Canberra was necessary. On the one
hand, it must meet public demands and on the other preserve the standards which had been sought to be

set up for the city.

Mr Shakespeare said that, owing to the retarding of development of Canberra a very unhea Ithy state of
affairs had been created. Under an unbalanced programme provision for shops and community services
had lagged. He continued that unsightly industrial slums existed in the Kingston area. They were as bad
as anything he had seen in Sydney or Melbourne. This was bad enough but in addition, people were
resorting to breaking the laws by carrying on backyard industries and activities.

060A horse and cart, -powerecklimausine,ds béing driaen thuglhthegCity Area Leases
Ordinance and the Building and Services Ordinances, & he
of buildings were being erected in Canberra without permits.

An outstanding example was that of man at Westlake who had built a brick house and was getting the
Government to permit the installing of electricity. This house had taken essential and critical materials

to erect. [This is not quite accurate 6 George used found bricks which he paid some of the young boys to
clean dsome are in the creek near his house site.]

Mr Shakespeare said that a reasonable view had to be taken of the position. It was no good intensifying
the laws to the utmost because then the people would suffer. To the other extreme laxity would mean
that people who came originally to Canberr a to settle, would be at a disadvantage. | suggest that as a
way out the Minister might accept certain advice from the Council which would provide a working
agreement. The community should be given the maximum service but at the time the City Plan should

added.

be adhered too, & he continuedé Mr Shakespearupofadded, ©6 We

development. Private enterprise should be allowed to do much more. If Lord Nuffield could find
resources from the Disposals Commission for a factory in Sydn ey, then surely there is enough private
enterprise to cover the needs of the Territory.d Mr

Dal ey

embarrassing position with regard to building activities i



foragarage. They cannot have one. They ask can they build
added.

On the suggestion of Mr Ellis the Council decided to give more thought to the matter and it will be

raised at the next meeting.

Above left: Circa199 photograp h showing the site of one of the flats 29 Westlake in Stirlng Park and on

the right Katja Heikurinen the daughter of one of the tenants of the flats standing behind one of the flats.

The back of the cottage is on the right.

Below: Fuzzy photograph taken by me in the late 1940s showing 29 and the flats under construction in the
background. The girls are L-R Dimity, Shirley Dixon, Carmel Maxwell and Elaine Berry. Toby in

background.

Below is a view taken from the front hedge area of 29 Westlake lookin g down towards the hall that was

built just behind the trees in the centre background. Below right is a detail of the hedge taken from the
other side |l ooking back towards the site of 27 and

embedded in the pine tree & part of the former front hedge
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The Canberra Times 4 August 1944: WESTLAKE RESIDENTS SLUM DESCRIPRE3Nents of Westlake

held a meeting of protest against an article which appeare
Westlakeas one of Australiads worst slum areas, which resident
had lived at Westlake and made the best of difficult conditions for 20 years. The secretary of the

Westlake Progress Association (Mr Bellchambers) said the article and photo conveyed the impression that

the residents were to be compared with individuals respons
industrial areas. People were compelled to live in sub -standard houses at Westlake by the inability of

the Government to provide better houses. The article tactlessly published did not convey to readers

that the residents kept their homes clean and habitable and that the area was free from filth associated

with slum areas. He added that the article described West | ake as O6one of Australiads wor :
known by the deceptively attractive title of Westlakebd T
resolution was wunanimously carried that a |l etter of protes
theimpl i cati on that Westlake was one of Australiaf6s worst sl

ROADS

The original entrance to the settlement was on a track that entered the Gap from land covered from the
early 1940s by the US Embassy building and yard. This track continued down in the area of modern
Empire Circuit past the Canberra Mosque down Empire Circuit. The newer entrance used from the 1940s
started at State Circle below the US embassy dbus shelter erected there &thence up Perth Avenue and
down Darwin Avenue. These roads were not built at that time but follow relatively closely the old

entrance track. Incidentally the original plan for Darwin Avenue was roughly in the area of Block 2,
Section 128 Stirling Park, which may explain why that block is owned by the AC T government and not the
Commonwealth? Flynn Drive replaced this drive.

There have been numerous plans for development of Stirling Park. The first divided Park - the former
Section 22 - into two sections - 128 and 22. Block 4, Section 128 Stirling Park is a long thin undulating
block that cuts through the sites of cottages 29, 43, 48 -52. It has been set aside for an undeveloped road
and if built would join Empire Circuit where it juts into the park and Marina Place on the other side of the
park. When Ifirst approached the NCAI was assuredthat Section 4 wasjust a long thin block dnot a
road. However in 2009 or 2010 ACTEW put in a gas line along the verge of this proposed road and marked
it with yellow plastic posts.  Section 128 at time of writing is an area designated for development and the
former Block 1 has been subdivided and is being developed by the Chinese Embassy. Two small areas
were removed from the development by the NCA because they contain stone arrangements of

significance. Below: D etail of one section of one of the Ngunawal arrangements.
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is set aside as a site fdr a new Prime Ministerés Lodg
Another track used by Westlake people connected the settlement with the Hotel Canberra. The vehicle

track went along the creek and thence across the flat and continued up the side of the Hotel Canberra

land in the area of the modern road that joins Commonwealth Avenue. This dual carr iageway was

originally, like Wentworth Avenue, a concrete road. It also had roundabouts at the main intersections.

The walking track from the settlement was part of the vehicle track, but  veered off to the left below the

Hotel Canberra. Here one walked down the steep slope into the gully and crossed the creek on plank

bridge before continuing up the steep slope to the Hotel. Walkers then continued through the grounds of

the Hotel near the Croquet greens to the bus stop on Commonwealth Avenue.

None of the tracks were sealed until the early 1950s when some tar did find its way on to the surface of

the tracks within the settlement . Around that time a school bus service came into the settlement. Prior

to that time children walked to the State Circle bus st op. Many children rode their bikes across the track

near Capital Hill Hostel over to Telopea Park or St Chri

Adults wishing to use the bus service walked either to State Circle or Commonwealth Avenue to use the
bus services.
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ELEVATION OF WINDOW ! |-

1 At the time of preparing this document for the web(June 2009) the long thin block has been confirmed
as an undeveloped road and the area of Section 128 (eastern side of Stirling Park) is already being
developed in the area next to Flynn Drive and the remainder of the section set aside for development.

e of Howieds Cottages and the TiSector2mends Camp
o} e.



Westlake was chosen
as the area to build the
first of the Rolland
cottages and in early
1924 fifty -two were
ready for occupation.
By 1926 it was realized
that more cottages
were needed in this
settlement. The first
suggestionwas to bring twenty or so ex -Molonglo buildings to the settlement. However this
idea was scrapped and another 10 Rolland cottages were built on the site of the tents of No
3 Sewer Camp that had left the area in 1925. These ten cottages had the same basi ¢ plan as the original
cottage design but differed in that the combined laundry bathroom was built at the back of the kitchen
instead of the bedroom. The newer buildings, like the 120 built at Causeway in 1925 and 1926, had the
exterior timber planks nail ed horizontally instead of vertically.

Top photograph - Rhona Bourke and one of her brothers outside 1
Westlake. Below on the left is Tom Smith working on his garden 13
Westlake. Note the vertical timbers and the concrete piers. Aboverightisone of t he O®8Rour ke girl s
the green tin chimney of her home 845 Westlake.

The Septic and Sewer System

The Westlake cottages in The Gap were connected to electricity, water and a septic system. Following
the completion of the Main Intercepting Sewer a round 1927 the cottages were connected to the new
sewer.



